| DOCKETED | | | | | | |
|------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Docket Number: | 20-IEPR-02 | | | | | |
| Project Title: | Transportation | | | | | |
| TN #: | 235678 | | | | | |
| Document Title: | Travel Effects and Associated Greenhouse Gas Emissions of Automated Vehicles | | | | | |
| Description: | Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/9g12v6r0 Author Rodier, Caroline J | | | | | |
| Filer: | Raquel Kravitz | | | | | |
| Organization: | California Energy Commission | | | | | |
| Submitter Role: | Commission Staff | | | | | |
| Submission Date: | 11/18/2020 2:36:14 PM | | | | | |
| Docketed Date: | 11/18/2020 | | | | | |

UC Davis

White Papers

Title

Travel Effects and Associated Greenhouse Gas Emissions of Automated Vehicles

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/9g12v6r0

Author

Rodier, Caroline J

Publication Date

2018-04-01

Travel Effects and Associated Greenhouse Gas Emissions of Automated Vehicles

April 2018

A White Paper from the National Center for Sustainable Transportation

Caroline Rodier, University of California, Davis





About the National Center for Sustainable Transportation

The National Center for Sustainable Transportation is a consortium of leading universities committed to advancing an environmentally sustainable transportation system through cutting-edge research, direct policy engagement, and education of our future leaders. Consortium members include: University of California, Davis; University of California, Riverside; University of Southern California; California State University, Long Beach; Georgia Institute of Technology; and University of Vermont. More information can be found at: ncst.ucdavis.edu.

U.S. Department of Transportation (USDOT) Disclaimer

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the information presented herein. This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the United States Department of Transportation's University Transportation Centers program, in the interest of information exchange. The U.S. Government assumes no liability for the contents or use thereof.

Acknowledgments

This study was funded by a grant from the National Center for Sustainable Transportation (NCST), supported by USDOT through the University Transportation Centers program. The authors would like to thank the NCST and USDOT for their support of university-based research in transportation, and especially for the funding provided in support of this project. The authors would also like to thank reviewers at the National Association of Regional Councils, the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials, the Southern California Association of Governments, the Sacramento Area Council of Governments, the City of Atlanta, and the Vermont Agency of Transportation for providing excellent review comments on preliminary versions of this white paper.



Travel Effects and Associated Greenhouse Gas Emissions of Automated Vehicles

A National Center for Sustainable Transportation White Paper

April 2018

Caroline Rodier, Institute of Transportation Studies, University of California, Davis



[page left intentionally blank]



TABLE OF CONTENTS

| EXECUTIVE SUMMARY | ii |
|---|----|
| Introduction | 1 |
| Mechanisms for Changing Travel Demand | 2 |
| Increased Roadway Capacity | 2 |
| Reduced Travel Time Burden | 2 |
| Change in Monetary Costs | 4 |
| Parking and Relocation Travel | 4 |
| Induced Travel | 6 |
| New Travelers | 6 |
| Scenario Modeling | 8 |
| Route Choice Modeling and Empty Relocation Travel | 8 |
| Short to Longer Run Modeling | 12 |
| Extrapolation Studies | 18 |
| Conclusion | 20 |
| References | 22 |



Travel Effects and Associated Greenhouse Gas Emissions of Automated Vehicles

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In much the same way that the automobile disrupted horse and cart transportation in the 20th century, automated vehicles hold the potential to disrupt our current system of transportation and the fabric of our built environment in the 21st century. Experts predict that vehicles could be fully automated by as early as 2025 or as late as 2035 (Underwood, 2015). The public sector is just beginning to understand automated vehicle technology and to grapple with how to accommodate it in our current transportation system.

Research on automated vehicles is extremely important because automated vehicles may significantly disrupt our transportation system with potentially profound effects, both positive and negative, on our society and our environment. However, this research is very hard to do because fully automated vehicles have yet to travel on our roads. As a result, automated vehicle research is largely conducted by extrapolating effects from current observed behavior and drawing on theory and models. Both the magnitude of the mechanism of change and secondary effects are often uncertain.

Moreover, the potential for improved safety in automated vehicles drive the mechanisms by which vehicle miles traveled (VMT), energy, and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions may change. We really don't know whether automated vehicles will achieve the level of safety that will allow for completely driverless cars, very short headways, smaller vehicles, lower fuel use, and/or reduce insurance cost. We don't know whether automated vehicle fleets will be harmonized to reduce energy and GHG emissions.

In this white paper, the available evidence on the travel and environmental effects of automated vehicles is critically reviewed to understand the potential magnitude and likelihood of estimated effects. We outline the mechanisms by which automated vehicles may change travel demand and review the available evidence on their significance and size. These mechanisms include increased roadway capacity, reduced travel time burden, change in monetary costs, parking and relocation travel, induced travel demand, new traveler groups, and energy effects. We then describe the results of scenario modeling studies. Scenarios commonly include fleets of personal automated vehicles and automated taxis with and without sharing. Travel and/or land use models are used to simulate the cumulative effects of scenarios. These models typically use travel activity data and detailed transportation networks to replicate current and predict future land use, traffic behavior, and/or vehicle activity in a real or hypothetical city or region. The findings from this white paper are summarized in the text and in Table A below.



- Road Capacity: Safety improvements from automated vehicles could significantly reduce headways on roadways and the results could be an almost doubling or tripling of capacity. These findings are based on a limited number of microsimulation studies that draw on traffic flow theory. Only one study uses field data. However, there is a relatively strong body of literature on the induced travel effects of roadway capacity on VMT. This literature suggests that the elasticity of VMT with respect to road capacity is 0.3 to 0.6 (short run) and 0.6 to 1.0 (long run). Thus, if roadway capacity increases by 10% then VMT may increase by 3% to 6% in the short run and 6% to 10% in the long run.
- Time Costs: The ability to engage in other activities while traveling in an automated vehicle may reduce the time burden of travel. Potential reductions in the value of travel time from automated vehicles are largely extrapolated from the results of stated preference surveys of car passengers and rail passengers, which may or may not be transferable to the experience of automated vehicle passengers. The results of these studies vary widely, but 75% to 82% of current driver values of time may be reasonable. Studies also indicate that working may not be a common use of time for those traveling in automated vehicles.
- Monetary Costs: Safety improvements in automated vehicles may lower vehicle insurance costs. Reductions in fuel costs could be enabled from lighter vehicles, lower time costs of refueling electric vehicles, and harmonization of vehicle flows. Avoided labor cost could enable fleets of automated taxis and shared taxi with user costs lower than personal vehicles. The magnitude of cost reductions is largely speculative, and few peer reviewed studies evaluate these effects. Reduced monetary costs of vehicle travel would tend to increase VMT. The body of literature on the effect of gas prices, which is the largest component of variable cost for conventional vehicles, on VMT is relatively strong. Elasticity of VMT with respect to gas price is -0.03 to -0.10 (short run) and -0.13 to -0.30 (long run). Thus, if gas price is reduced by 10% then VMT may increase by 0.3% to 1% in the short run and 1.3% to 3% in the long run. Only one study in New York City estimates the elasticity of taxi trips with respect to fares at -0.22, which may be applicable to automated taxi fleets (i.e., if fares increased by 10% then taxi trips would be reduced by 2.2%).
- **Mode Choice**: Available research suggests that automated vehicles would reduce transit and non-motorized mode shares and increase car mode shares. The limited available research on this subject confirms expected direction change, but magnitude is highly uncertain due to study quality.
- **Empty Vehicle Relocation Travel**: Automated vehicles may travel while empty to pick up passengers and to avoid parking where it is scarce or costs are high. The limited research on this topic shows that empty relocation travel is positively correlated with distance from the urban core, the price of parking, and per mile user costs, and is



inversely correlated with ride-sharing and transit. Empty relocation travel may contribute significantly to VMT effects of automated vehicles; however, studies do not fully represent induced travel effects and thus may overestimate the relative importance of this effect. U.S. studies are simulated only in Austin (TX).

- **Parking**: There are very few studies that evaluate the effect of automated vehicles on parking. Three simulation studies (one in the U.S. and two in the E.U.) suggested that automated taxis may reduce parking demand by about 90%.
- New Travelers: Automated vehicles may allow many people to engage in car travel who cannot now drive a vehicle because of young-age and/or medical disabilities. Also, if shared automated taxis provide travel at a cost lower than current costs, then many lower income people who do not have access to a reliable car may also begin traveling more by car. Only a few studies evaluate the potential magnitude of this effect by extrapolating from 2009 NHTS Household Travel Survey data. Most studies estimate an increase in VMT on the order of 10% to 14%. However, the magnitude of effects is based largely on study assumptions.



Table A. Summary of White Paper Findings and Quality of Evidence

| Mechanisms | Summary of Findings | Quality of Evidence |
|-------------------------------|--|---|
| Road Capacity | Reduced headways could almost double or triple roadway capacity. Elasticity of VMT with respect to road capacity increase is 0.3 to 0.6 (short run) and 0.6 to 1.0 (long run). | Limited research largely uses microsimulation traffic models. More measured data needed. The body of literature on the effect of expanded road capacity and VMT is relatively strong. |
| Time Cost | Vary widely, but 75% to 82% of current driver values of time may be reasonable. Working may not be a common use of time for AV passengers. | Studies largely extrapolate from car passenger and rail passenger experiences, which may or may not be consistent with the experience of automated vehicle travelers. |
| Monetary Cost | Reduced monetary cost from lower insurance and fuel costs. Avoided labor cost could enable fleets of AV taxis and shared taxi with use costs lower than personal vehicles. Elasticity of VMT with respect to gas price is -0.03 to -0.10 (short run) and -0.13 to -0.30 (long run). Elasticity of taxi trips with respect to fares is -0.22. | The magnitude of cost reductions is largely speculative, and few peer reviewed studies evaluate these effects. The body of literature on the effect of gas prices on VMT is relatively strong. Gas price is the largest component of the variable cost of driving a conventional owned vehicle. Only one study in New York City estimates taxi fare elasticity. |
| Mode Choice | Available research suggests that AVs would reduce transit and non-motorized and increase car mode shares. | Limited research confirms expected direction change, but magnitude is highly uncertain due to study quality. |
| Parking | Fully AV taxis may reduce parking demand by about 90%. However, reduced parking may increase relocation travel. | Only one U.S. study that uses observed travel data. Two other studies are in European cities. All studies use simulation models. |
| Empty Relocation Travel | Empty relocation travel is positively correlated with distance from the urban core, the price of parking, and per mile user costs, and inversely correlated with ridesharing and transit. Empty relocation travel may contribute significantly to VMT effects of automated vehicles. | Limited research confirms expected direction change, but magnitude is highly uncertain. The share of relocation travel with respect to total VMT may be significant; however, studies do not fully represent induced travel effects and thus may overestimate the relative significance of this effect. |
| New Travelers | Most studies estimate an increase in VMT on the order of 10% to 14%. | Extrapolations use 2009 National Household Travel Survey data. Magnitude of effects are based largely on study assumptions. |

AV=automated vehicles

In sum, this review suggests that personal automated vehicles and automated taxis are likely to significantly increase VMT and GHG and eliminating parking could exacerbate these increases. Electrifying the automated vehicle fleet could counter GHG growth, but will likely reduce vehicle operating costs and further increase VMT and congestion. Shared automated vehicle



taxis could significantly reduce VMT and GHGs, but pricing polies are likely needed to get people to share. City center congestion could increase with significantly higher freeway capacity, which could result in urban flight and suburban sprawl in outlying areas that are relatively less congested. Policies to counter these trends could include (1) reinvesting in heavy rail transit to city centers with expanded first and last mile access in suburban areas by providing by automated vehicle shuttles and (2) cordon pricing around city centers to reduce congestion, make neighborhoods livable, and avoid sprawl.



Introduction

In much the same way that the automobile disrupted horse and cart transportation in the 20th century, automated vehicles hold the potential to disrupt our current system of transportation and the fabric of our built environment in the 21st century. Experts predict that vehicles could be fully automated by as early as 2025 or as late as 2035 (Underwood, 2015). The public sector is just beginning to understand automated vehicle technology and to grapple with how to accommodate it in our current transportation system. The manner in which automated vehicles are integrated into our regional transportation systems could have significant negative and positive effects on congestion, vehicle miles traveled (VMT), greenhouse gas emissions (GHGs), energy consumption, and land development patterns. For example, one study estimates that automated vehicles could double GHG emissions and energy consumption or reduce it by 50%, depending on the magnitude of different travel demand effects (Wadud et al., 2016).

Understanding the potential impacts of automated vehicles is critical to guiding their adoption in ways that improve multi-modal accessibility for all citizens and minimize negative environmental effects. The challenge, of course, is that fully automated vehicles have not yet been introduced into the transportation system and thus observed data is not available on how travelers will adopt and respond.

In this white paper, the available evidence on the travel and environmental effects of automated vehicles is critically reviewed to understand the potential magnitude and likelihood of estimated effects. In section II, we outline the mechanisms by which automated vehicles may change travel demand and review the available evidence on their significance and size. These mechanisms include increased roadway capacity, reduced travel time burden, change in monetary costs, parking and relocation travel, induced travel demand, new traveler groups, and energy effects. In section III, we describe the results of scenario modeling studies. Scenarios commonly include fleets of personal automated vehicles and automated taxis with and without sharing that are fully operational without a driver (i.e., level 5 automation). Travel and/or land use models are used to simulate the cumulative effects of scenarios. These models typically use travel activity data and detailed transportation networks to replicate current and predict future land use, traffic behavior, and/or vehicle activity in a real or hypothetical city or region. In section IV, the results of the review are synthesized to identify the magnitude and strength of the evidence for the effects, lessons learned, and research gaps.



Mechanisms for Changing Travel Demand

Increased Roadway Capacity

Safety improvements from automated vehicles are expected to increase effective roadway capacity by enabling smaller vehicles and shorter headways and by reducing time delays due to accidents and improved operations. Automated taxi and shared taxi services could also enable "right sizing" of vehicles to passenger occupancy.

Overall, the results of modeling and field studies, which largely consider reduced headways between automated vehicles, indicate that a fully automated vehicle fleet could approximately double or triple the effective capacity of existing roadways. Shladover et al. (2012) conduct field tests and microsimulation modeling of connected automated vehicles at differing levels of market penetration and find increases in roadway capacity due to connected automated vehicles that range from 5% to 89%. Ambühl et al. (2016) use a mesoscopic model (VISSIM) to simulate an autonomous vehicle fleet with a simplified car following model, in which headways are reduced from two seconds for conventional vehicles to one half a second, on an abstract four by four gridded network (with 24 road links that are 120 meters long and two lanes in each direction) and report that the effective capacity of the network could be tripled by an automated vehicle fleet. Lioris et al. (2017) apply three queuing models to simulate automated vehicles with headways of three fourths of a second on an urban network with 16 intersections and 73 links. They show that both roadways and intersections can accommodate a doubling and tripling of roadway capacity with connected automated vehicles. In other words, intersections would not act as a bottleneck in a roadway network that served automated vehicles.

Reduced Travel Time Burden

Passengers in fully automated vehicles would be free to use in-vehicle travel time to work and "play" in their vehicle. As a result, the burden of travel time may be lessened. Note, however, that this dynamic could lead to increased vehicle size and weight due to equipment needed to engage in desired tasks. To date, the research that addresses this topic is limited in quantity and is inconclusive due to methodological challenges. The results of this research are summarized here.

Ian Wallis Associates (2014) review the literature on the value of time of vehicle drivers compared to vehicle passengers. They find only five studies that directly address this issue and only one of these studies control for individual socio-demographic differences, such as income and age. In one U.K. study, the results of a stated preference and transfer price surveys¹ of vehicle drivers and passengers indicate that the average ratio for passenger value of time compared to driver value of time is 63% for commuter travel, 75% for other travel, and 78% for

¹ Stated preference surveys ask respondents to choose among different hypothetical options and experiment methods are typically employed to generate hypothetical choices. Transfer price surveys present hypothetical choices in relation to an existing or actual situation experienced by respondents.



business travel (Hague Consulting Group, 1999 cited in Ian Wallis Associates, 2014). A study conducted in Australia, which employs a stated preference survey, finds that the value of travel time for passengers is 75% of drivers (Hensher, 1984 cited in Ian Wallis Associates, 2014). The results of stated preference and transfer price surveys administered in Sweden indicate no significant difference between passenger and driver value of travel time (cited in Ian Wallis Associates, 2014). In Denmark, a stated preference survey shows that passenger value of travel time is 67% that of driver value of travel time, but when value of travel time is adjusted for income the value is 82% (Fosgerau et al., 2007 cited in Ian Wallis Associates, 2014). This study did not detect significant differences in value of travel time by trip purpose. The results of revealed² and stated preference surveys in Spain indicate that passenger value of time is 82% of the driver for work/education trips and 69% for all other trip purposes (Roman et al., 2007 cited in Ian Wallis Associates, 2014).

Studies that examine rail passengers' value of time spent on activities while traveling provide some insight into potential travel time benefits of automated vehicles. A survey of rail passengers in the U.K. indicates that only 13% of passengers engage in work or study while traveling, 98% of those passengers rate the time spent on those activities as of some use (59%) or very worthwhile (39%), and 62% to 85% of all passengers rate different non-work activities as of some use or very worthwhile (Lyons et al., 2007). Another study in the U.K., which uses revealed preference and stated preference surveys, finds that train travelers engage in a wider range of activities than car travelers and, on average, about 66 minutes were spent on work related activities by train passengers while only 6 minutes were spent on work related activities by car travelers (Batley et al., 2010). More recently, Malokin et al. (2015) conduct a revealed preference survey of commuters in the San Francisco-Sacramento transportation corridor in Northern California and extrapolate travel time benefits from productive time use during commuter rail and shared ride travel to estimate changes in commuter mode share for a hypothetical automated vehicle scenario. The results indicate that the drive alone mode share increases by 0.95 percentage points and shared ride mode share increases by 1.08 percentage points. However, one on-line survey, the results of which are stratified by gender, age, and income to closely represent the general population, finds that window gazing and relaxing is a more highly valued use of time than working in automated vehicles (Cyganski et al., 2015). However, Le Vine et al. (2015) question the equivalence of traveling in an automated vehicle and in a train due to differences in acceleration and deceleration dynamics, which have been found to impact travelers' comfort. They estimate that these dynamics are significantly worse in automated vehicles based on a microsimulation analysis.

A few surveys have been conducted that explore the factors that may motivate consumers to purchase an automated vehicle; however, the samples of these surveys are typically not representative of the general population in a specific geographic area. Bansal and Kockelman (2016) conduct an internet based opinion survey and report that a significant number of respondents find the ability to engage in other tasks would contribute positively to purchasing

² Revealed preference surveys ask respondents questions about actual situations they experience



an automated vehicle. These include texting or talking (74%), sleeping (52%), working (54%), and watching movies or playing games (46%). Menon et al. (2016) administer a survey to a university population in South Florida and find that 73% of respondents believe that more productive (than driving a conventional vehicle) use of travel time is a likely benefit of automated vehicles. On the other hand, Schoettle and Sivak's (2014a) internet-based survey of individuals in the U.K., the U.S., and Australia finds that 41% of respondents would continue watching the road even as passenger in an automated vehicle.

Change in Monetary Costs

Attributes of automated vehicle will tend to reduce the variable per mile cost of operating a vehicle. The improved safety of automated vehicles should reduce insurance costs, which are about 3.3 cents per mile by about 60% to 80% (Wadud et al., 2016). It should also reduce the weight of the vehicle due to safety features. MacKenzie et al. (2014) estimate that removing this weight could reduce fuel consumption by 5.5%. Moreover, automated vehicles may be more likely to be electric vehicles because the vehicle can be recharged without time costs to a driver. Electricity is significantly less expensive than gasoline use in conventional vehicles (about 50% less).

No longer will passengers have to pay the labor costs for taxi or ride-hail services (shared and unshared) and transit. As these modes become more affordable, they may be deployed beyond dense urban areas to suburban and rural environments and to provide first and last mile service to rail transit. Chen et al. (2016) estimate that automated electric vehicle taxis could be operated at a cost of 42 cents per mile (including the cost of charging infrastructure, vehicle capital and maintenance, electricity, insurance, and registration), which is equivalent to owning a vehicle with lower than average mileage. The per mile cost of shared automated electric taxis would be even less.

As described above, automated taxi's may facilitate "right-sizing" of vehicles, which could further reduce the energy requirements and cost of operations; however, it is difficult to estimate the magnitude of this potential benefit (Wadud et al., 2016).

Shared automated services could also significantly impact fleet size as the cost of automated taxis with and without sharing could become significantly less than the cost of a personally owned automated vehicles (Burns et al., 2013). Many studies, see discussion in the next section, show that large reductions in the vehicle fleet may be made possible through shared use mobility service.

Parking and Relocation Travel

Automated vehicles may significantly reduce parking demand. Personal automated vehicles could drop off their passengers and return home to park. Automated taxis and shared automated taxis could drop off passengers and then be relocated to pick up other passengers. A shared fleet would be smaller than a personal vehicle fleet and thus would require less total



spaces even when they are not in use for extended hours of the day during non-peak times. Parking could be located at strategic locations throughout a region rather than located at or near a baseness or home. Zhang and Guhathakurta (2017) simulate parking demand for a fleet of autonomous taxis in Atlanta (GA) and find that land devoted to parking could be reduced by 4.5% once the fleet began to serve 5% of trips and could reduce 67% of parking lots in the central business district (CBD). Martinez and Christ (2015) simulate a fleet of automated taxis (100% market penetration) with and without sharing and transit, in Lisbon, Portugal, and find an 84% to 94% reduction in parking. At 50% market penetration levels, the share of baseline parked vehicles is only significantly reduced with transit by 21% to 24%(respectively with and without sharing). Another study (de Alameidia Correla and van Arem, 2016) in Delft, Netherlands, simulates fully automated personal vehicles (100% market penetration) and finds that vehicles spend more time parking (16% and 19%) when parking charges decrease and less time parking (7% to 24%) when parking charges increase (see more detailed discussion of this study in section III below).

The potential magnitude of relocation travel is discussed in more detail in section III below; however, we briefly summarize the results here. Two studies simulate personal vehicles that are fully automated with 100% market penetration. A study in downtown Austin (TX) finds that relocation travel is 83% of total VMT (Levin and Boyles, 2015). The study in Delft (described above) found a that relocation travel as a share of total VMT can range from 10% to 87% with a positive correlation between the price of parking and relocation travel (de Alameidia Correla and van Arem, 2016). Total VMT increases in this study and relocation travel is a significant factor when pricing charges are relatively low.

A number of studies estimate the effect of fully automated taxis on relocation travel. Maciejewski and Bishoff (2016) simulate automated taxis in Berlin, Germany, at different levels of market penetration and find that the share of relocation travel ranges from 17% to 19% of total VMT with higher levels associated with lower levels of market penetration. Bischoff and Maciejewski (2016) simulate automated taxis in Berlin and examine the share of empty vehicle trips by location and find that the share is at least 6% lower than the regional average in the city center and 6% to 29% higher in outlying areas of the region. Bischoff and Maciejewski (2017) show that relocation travel is 13% to 20% of VMT for an automated shared taxi scenario, depending on assumptions about roadway capacity expansion from automation; however, overall VMT declines by 15% to 22% due to sharing rides. Chen and Kockelman (2016) simulate an electric automated taxi service that competes with other modes based on per mile use cost in a hypothetical Austin-like city. They find that relocation travel varies from 7% to 9%, depending on assumptions about value of travel time and per mile user costs. Average trip distances increase from 20% to 35% when overall costs (value of time and user costs) are relatively low and decrease from 3% to 4% when overall costs are relatively high.



Induced Travel

Induced travel is the increase in auto travel that results from a reduction in the cost of auto travel. As described above, automated vehicles may reduce the cost of auto travel by increasing effective roadway capacity and thus auto travel speeds, decreasing the value of time costs of auto travel through the ability to engage in other tasks instead of driving, and reducing the monetary cost of auto travel through lower parking, fuel, and insurance costs and more efficient use of vehicles.

Induced travel effects can be broken down into four basic components. If the cost of auto travel declines, all else being equal, then auto travel becomes more cost-effective relative to other modes of travel (e.g., transit, walk, and bike) and thus auto mode share is likely to increase. Individuals may also decide to travel to more preferred destinations that are further way than less preferred destinations. For example, a traveler may decide to go to a regional mall that is 15 miles away with 50 stores compared to a local mall that is 2 miles away with only 10 stores. Travelers may also decide to make more discretionary trips and/or engage in less trip chaining due to reduced auto travel costs. Finally, over the long run significant changes in auto travel time and cost may affect land use development and population location. Reduced travel time costs may make commuting to work from lower cost housing developments in outlying areas of a region feasible. Businesses may follow as populations relocate further away from city centers.

The evidence for induced travel is strong (Handy et al., 2014). Studies typically calculate elasticities which are equal to a one percent increase in vehicle travel demand over a one percent change in travel cost. Handy et al. (2014) conduct a critical review on the effects of expanded roadways on induced VMT and find that short run effects typically range from 0.3 to 0.6 and long run effects from 0.6 to 1.0. Short run effects are changes in mode, destination, and trips while long run effects include land use effects. Studies of the effect of reduced travel time on vehicle travel indicate short run effects have elasticities that range from -0.27 to -0.5 and long run effects range from -0.57 to -1.0 (Preston et al., 1997 and Goodwin, 1996). Recent studies of the elasticity of VMT with respect to gas price show short run elasticities that range from -0.03 to -0.10 and long run elasticities that range from -0.13 to -0.30 (Circella et al., 2014). Only one study estimates the elasticity of demand for taxi trips with respect to fares in New York City (Shaller, 1999) and finds that the elasticity is -0.22.

New Travelers

Fully automated vehicles could increase mobility for older adults, people with disabilities, young people without driver's licenses, and people living in poverty. The ability of these mobility-limited population groups to travel in automated vehicles, all things being equal, would tend to increase vehicle travel. Our review of the literature identified only four studies that attempt to quantify the magnitude of this increase.

Sivak and Schoettle (2014) conduct an on-line survey of young people (age 18 to 39) without a driver's license and ask the primary reason why they did not have a driver's license. The



distribution of respondents without a driver's license aged 18 to 39 is consistent with that of the U.S. population (Schoettle and Sivak, 2014b). They find that four of these reasons would be eliminated by the availability of fully automated vehicles: too busy, disability, lack of driving knowledge, and legal issues. If respondents indicate one of those four reasons, then it is assumed that they would travel in a fully automated vehicle. The increase in total vehicle users was estimated by age group. These figures are then applied to the 2009 National Household Travel Survey (NHTS) data to estimate a 10.6% total average increase in annual VMT with fully automated vehicles for the U.S. population aged 18 to 39.

Brown et al. (2015) use data from the 2009 NHTS and the 2003 "Freedom to Travel Study" to estimate the increase in travel for youth, elderly, and disabled populations. They apply the travel rate of the top age decile (40 years old) to population segments from age 16 to 85. They estimate a total increase of 40% VMT per vehicle due to the availability of fully automated vehicles.

Wadud et al. (2016) use the 2009 NHTS to estimate the increase vehicle travel among those aged 62 and older that may result from the introduction of fully automated vehicles. Their analysis applies the driving rates of those aged 62 to everyone older than 62. The results indicate a 2% to 10% increase in VMT.

Harper et al. (2016) use data from the 2009 NHTS to estimate the potential increase in VMT by non-drivers, seniors (65 years and older), and individuals with travel-restrictive medical conditions. The study assumes that, with fully automated vehicles, non-drivers will use vehicles at the same rate as drivers, seniors will drive at the same rate as those under 65, and that working age adult drivers (19-64) with travel-restrictive medical conditions will travel at the same rate as working age adult drivers without medical conditions. They estimate a 14% increase in annual VMT for the U.S. population aged 19 and older.



Scenario Modeling

Route Choice Modeling and Empty Relocation Travel

The immediate effects of automated taxis and shared taxis (level 4 automation) are summarized in Table 1. The immediate effects of these modes are simulated with dynamic route choice models that represent the empty repositioning travel necessary to pick up and drop off passengers. Dynamic traffic assignment (DTA) route choice models are widely considered to do a better job of representing the interaction of vehicles and resulting traffic flows compared to static assignment (SA) models. Increased roadway capacity would tend to reduce congestion and allow drivers to take more direct routes to destinations, which could reduce VMT.

Early studies of automated taxis in the U.S. simulate travel for small downtown areas in hypothetical U.S. cities that are similar to Austin (TX) and Atlanta (GA) (Faganant and Kockelman, 2014 and Zhang et al., 2015, respectively). Travel demand is randomly generated with limited reference to national observed travel demand (e.g., 2009 NHTS data). The physical representation of these cities includes 10-mile by 10-mile gridded areas, but no physical representation of roadway networks. As a result, automated taxis are simulated with constant peak and off-peak travel speeds for a typical weekday.

Faganant and Kockelman (2014) simulate an automated taxi fleet in the Austin-like city and find that one automated taxi could replace 10 personally owned vehicles. However, this smaller fleet would increase VMT by about 11%. Life-cycle energy and emission effects are also calculated using estimates of VMT, fleet size, parking, and vehicle starts for base and automated taxi scenarios and show reductions in energy use by 12%, GHG by 6%, volatile organic compounds (VOC) by 49%, and carbon monoxide (CO) by 34%. Note that VOC and CO emission are strongly influenced by vehicle cold starts, which are significantly reduced in the automated taxi scenario.

Zhang et al. (2015) compare automated taxi scenarios with and without sharing in their Atlanta-like city. The study assumes that only 50% of travelers will be willing to share a ride with strangers and that the cost and time delay of sharing will be compensated for by lower cost of traveling. They find that one shared automated taxi could replace 14 personally owned vehicles. Relative to the automated taxi scenario, a fleet of shared automated taxis would reduce relocation travel and total VMT by about 5% and 6%, respectively, and reduce daily and peak delays by about 13% and 37%, respectively. Longer vehicle downtime in the shared automated taxi scenario contributes to a 10% increase in chargeable breaks for electric automated taxis but it also increases cold starts by 7%. The authors also find that change in vehicle fleet could reduce parking by 92.5%. Lifecycle energy and emissions impacts of the automated taxi with and without sharing are compared to a base case with conventional vehicles. The analysis considers VMT and reductions in parking infrastructure requirements. The results show no difference between the automated taxi scenarios with and without sharing and reductions of less than 1% compared to the base case.



Later studies conducted by Faganant, Kockelman, and others (Fagnant et al., 2015 and Faganant and Kockelman, 2016) improve their representation of daily travel in Austin (TX) by increasing the size of the core city to a 12-mile by 24-mile area, using a roadway network with link-level travel times, and using origin and destination travel demand data from the regional Metropolitan Planning Organization's (MPO's) four step model. They also use the MATSim dynamic assignment model (Horni et al., 2016). The results from the improved modeling of the automated taxi fleet in Fagnant et al. (2015) show lower increases in VMT (8%), somewhat higher automated vehicle to conventional vehicle replacement rates (1 to 11), and improved energy use and GHG reductions, 14% and 7.6%, respectively using the same methodology in Faganant and Kockelman (2014). The increase in VMT in the shared automated taxi ranged from 17% to 52% of the increase for the automated taxi scenario.

Bishoff and Maciejewski (Maciejewski and Bischoff, 2016; Bischoff and Maciejewski, 2016; and Bishoff et al., 2017) examine automated taxis and shared taxis in Berlin, Germany with the MATSim modeling framework, which includes a dynamic assignment model with vehicle relocation capabilities. The model uses local travel behavior data to dynamically schedule automated vehicle fleets for an average weekday (Maciejewski et al., 2017). Maciejewski and Bischoff (2016) simulate different levels of market penetrations for automated taxis (20% to 100%). They find an automated vehicle to conventional vehicle replacement rate of 1 to 11 or 12 vehicles and that the share of empty drive time to total drive time ranges from 17% to 19%. The percentage change in travel time delay ranges widely from -71% to +173% depending on the changes in roadway capacity due to automated vehicle technology (i.e., equal to 1, 1.5, and 2.0 of current capacity), as discussed above. Bischoff and Maciejewski, 2016 examine the share of empty ride per zones from an automated taxi service at 100% market penetration. They find that the city average is 16%, but in the city center it is much lower (10% or less) and in outlying areas it is much higher (22% to 45%). Bishoff et al., 2017 simulate a fleet of automated taxis with and without sharing. The MATSim model uses GPS trace data for 15,000 taxis collected over a period of 4.5 months. Relative to the automated taxi fleet, they find that shared taxis can reduce VMT by 15% to 22% and that the share of empty relocation VMT to total VMT ranges from 13% to 20%.



Table 1. Summary of Route Choice and Empty Relocation Travel Scenario Modeling Studies

| Author(s) | Location | Method | Travel Effects | Time Period | AV | Scenario (compared to conventional vehicles unless specified) | Fleet (% of conventional vehicles) | Relocation travel (share of empty) | Total VMT | Travel Time Delay | Energy & Emissions |
|-----------------------------------|--|--|---|----------------|----------------------------|--|------------------------------------|--|----------------------------------|-----------------------------------|--|
| Zhang et al. 2015 | Hypothetical US city similar to Atlanta, GA US | Agent-based model with travel profile from 2009 NHTS; randomly generated demand for 10 by 10 mile gridded area; constant peak and offpeak speeds (no network) | DTA route choice with relocation travel | Weekday | 100% Shared Taxi | Relative to AV taxi | 14% | -5% | -6% | -13% daily; -37% peak | +7% cold starts; +10% chargeable breaks |
| Faganant & Kockelman 2014 | Hypothetical US city similar to Austin, TX US | Agent-based model; 10 by 10 mi. gridded area; demand randomly generated with some basis in 2009 NHTS; constant peak and offpeak speeds (no network) | DTA route choice with relocation travel | Weekday | 100% Taxi | - | 10% | - | +10.7% | - | -12% energy; -5.6% GHG; - 49% VOC; -34% CO |
| Fagnant et al. 2015 | Austin, TX US | Agent-based dynamic assignment (MATSim); 12 by 24 mi. core city; demand from MPO 4 step model; network with link-level travel times | DTA route choice with relocation travel | Weekday | 100% Taxi | - | 11% | - | +8.0% | | -14% energy; -7.6% GHG; -47% VOC; -32% CO |
| Faganant & Kockelman 2016 | Austin, TX US | Same as above | Same as above | Weekday | 100% Taxi & Shared Taxi | Taxi & Shared Taxi Taxi & Shared Taxi + 30% TT Taxi & Shared Taxi + 40% TT | 11% | - | +8.7% +4.5% +2.7% +1.5% | - | - |
| Maciejewski & Bischoff 2016 | Berlin, Germany | Agent-based (MATSim): dynamically schedules fleet in response to demand; | DTA route choice with repositioning travel | Weekday | 20% Taxi 40% Taxi | - | 10% to 12% | 19% | - | -15% to +9% -29% to +39% | - |



| Author(s) | Location | Method | Travel Effects | Time Period | AV | Scenario (compared to conventional vehicles unless specified) | Fleet (% of conventional vehicles) | Relocation travel (share of empty) | Total VMT | Travel Time Delay | Energy & Emissions |
|------------------------|--------------------|---|----------------|----------------|---------------------|---|------------------------------------|--|-----------------|----------------------|-----------------------|
| | | Berlin travel behavior data | | | 60% Taxi | | | 17% | | -43% to +85% | |
| | | | | | 80% Taxi | | | 17% | | -57% to +173% | |
| | | | | | 100% Taxi | | | 17% | | -71% to +362% | |
| Bischoff & | Berlin, | Same as above | Same as above | Weekday | 100% Taxi | regional average | 10% | 16% | | | |
| Maciejewski | Germany | | | | | city center | | 10% or less | - | - | - |
| 2016 | | | | | | outlying areas | | 22% to 45% | | | |
| Bishoff et al. 2017 | Berlin, Germany | Same as above, but with local taxi data | Same as above | Weekday | 100% Shared Taxi | Relative to conventional taxi | - | 13% to 20% | -22% to -15% | - | - |

AV=automated vehicles; VMT=vehicle miles traveled; GHG=greenhouse gas emissions; VOC=volatile organic compounds; CO=carbon monoxide emissions; TT=Travel Time



Short to Longer Run Modeling

In this section, we describe the modeling studies that capture the short run to long run effects of automated vehicles by expanding the simulation of effects beyond route choice to land use, trip, destination, time of day, and/or mode choice. These studies and their results are described in Table 2. The studies simulate the effects of personally owned automated vehicles and automated taxi fleets with and without sharing by representing empty vehicle repositioning travel and changing roadway capacities, value of time (VOT), and the per mile cost of use. All studies assume level 4 vehicle automation.

Only one study represents the effects of personal automated vehicles on home location choice in Melbourne, Australia (Thakur et al., 2016). It uses a travel and land use model calibrated to regional MPO forecasts. The travel model represents destination and mode choice and uses a static assignment route choice model. A fleet of level 4 personal automated vehicles with full market penetration is represented by reducing traveler's value of time by 50%. The land use results show shifts in population locations from the inner suburbs (-4%) to the outer (+2%) and middle suburbs (+1%). Total VMT and average vehicle trip time grows by 30% and 24%, respectively, while transit mode share increases by 3 percentage points and transit mode shares declines by 3 percentage points.

Regional MPO travel demand models are used to simulate personal automated vehicles with 100% market penetration in the cities of San Francisco (CA) and Seattle (WA) by increasing roadway capacity and reducing value of time. Gucwa (2014) uses the San Francisco Bay Area MPO regional activity-based travel demand model to simulate a 100% increase in roadway capacity with and without a 50% reduction in value of travel time and finds a 7.9% and 2%, respectively, increase in VMT. Childress et al. (2014) use an activity based model for the Seattle region MPO and simulate a 30% increase in roadway capacity with and without a 65% reduction in value of time and a 50% reduction in parking costs. When roadway capacity is increased with and without a 65% reduction of value of travel time for high income individuals only VMT increases by 3.6% and 5%, respectively, and average travel delay declines by 17.6% to 14.3%, respectively. However, when the 65% reduction of value of time is applied to all individuals, parking costs are reduced, and roadway capacity is increased, total VMT increases by 19.6% and average delay increases by 17.3%. Childress et al. (2014) also examine changes in accessibility and VMT by zone from the simulated scenarios and find extreme increases in accessibility and VMT in outlying areas of the region and in some core urban areas, which suggest the potential for relocation of households and businesses to those areas. Note that the implied elasticity of demand for travel with respect to capacity increase is low for both these studies (0.002 and 0.012, respectively) relative to the empirical literature, as described in section 1 f above. As a result, the increases in VMT and reductions in travel delay are likely underestimated.

The activity and agent based travel demand model (POLARIS) is applied to the Ann Arbor (MI) region to evaluate different levels of personal automated vehicle market penetration rates, roadway capacity expansion, and value of time (Auld et al., 2017). The model represents trip,



destination, mode, and dynamic assignment route choice. Auld et al. (2017) find that, when automated vehicle market penetration rates are at 100% and roadway capacity expands by 12% to 77%, VMT increases by 0.4% and 2% and average vehicle travel time is reduced by about 2% to 5%. When value of travel times of 25% and 75% are applied to market penetration rates of 20% and 70%, VMT increases from about 1% to 19% and average vehicle trip time increases from 2% to 30%. Changes in market penetration, roadway capacity, and value of times are combined and the results indicate an increase in VMT that ranges from 2% to 28% and average vehicle trip times that range from 2% to 30%. The authors note that the implied elasticity of demand for travel with respect to capacity for this study is 0.027 which is low compared with estimates in the empirical literature, as described above.

Levin and Boyles (2015) modify the Austin (TX) regional MPO four step model to simulate personal automated vehicles with 100% market penetration in the downtown areas. This model represents destination, mode, and static assignment route choice. The model simulates personal automated vehicle travel by reducing vehicle following distances and jam densities to increase roadway capacity. The model also represents relocation travel and parking (e.g., to avoid parking cost vehicles will travel home after driving travelers to work). Levin and Boyles (2015) find that, in the peak period, the introduction of automated vehicles increase the disutility for parking and as a result 83% of total trips are round trips for repositioning. Vehicle trips increase by 275.5% while transit trips decline by 63%. However, average link speeds, weighted by length, are reduced by 9%.

Another study (de Alameidia Correia & van Arem 2016) examines the effects of a fully automated personal vehicle fleet with an agent-based model that represents mode choice and dynamic assignment route choice with parking and repositioning in Delft, Netherlands, which is a small city in South Holland. The model uses roadway and transit networks and mode choice coefficients and generalized cost functions from Arentz and Molin (2013). This study examines a fully automated vehicle fleet and varies the paid and free parking and value of travel time (reduced by 50%) and finds that paid parking significantly increases empty vehicle location travel, VMT, and vehicle hours of delay and reduces car mode share and total vehicle parking time. The largest increase in VMT and empty vehicle miles traveled (325% and 87.4%, respectively) and the greatest decline in total vehicle parking time (8.7%) was in the scenario where parking charges were implemented everywhere. Congestion or vehicle hours of delay grew the most (824%) where there was a charge for parking everywhere except for two peripheral lots. Reduced value of time in the paid parking scenarios increases VMT and total vehicle parking time in scenarios with free parking limited to the periphery, but dampens the increase in empty vehicle relocation travel and vehicle hours of delay. Overall, the share of repositioning travel ranges from 11% to 65%, the increase in car mode share ranges from -26 percentage points to 31 percentage points, VMT grows from 17% to 325%, vehicle hours of delay increases from 20% to 699%, and total vehicle parking time ranges from -7% to 25%.

Several studies examine the effects of automated taxi and shared taxi fleets. Azevedo et al. (2016) examine the effect of a policy that prohibits personal vehicle travel in the CBD of



Singapore (i.e., transit access to CBD only) and introduces a fleet of shared automated vehicles with a fare that is 40% of the taxi fare. The policy is simulated with an activity and agent based model (SimMobility) that makes use of local travel survey data, roadway and transit networks, and local taxi data. The model represents trip, destination, time-of-day, mode, and route choice. They find that the shared automated taxi to vehicle replacement rate of 1 to 4 and a 29 percentage point increase in the daily shared automated taxi mode, a 3 percentage point increase in transit mode share, and a 1 percentage point increase in both taxi and walk mode share.

Chen and Kockelman (2016) simulate an automated electric taxi fleet that competes with other modes by per mile cost of use and with travel time benefits in a hypothetical mid-sized region (100-mile by 100-mile gridded area) similar to Austin (TX). The agent-based MATSim framework is implemented with MPO trip generation rates by population densities, trip length distributions from the 2009 NHTS, and fixed peak and off-peak travel speeds that vary by area type (downtown, urban, suburban, and exurban). The model represents both mode and DTA route choice with vehicle repositioning. In these scenarios, value of time is reduced to 25%, 35%, and 50% of current value of travel time and per mile charges are 75 cents, 85 cents, and one dollar. As value of time and average per mile cost increases average trip length decreases. When the automated electric taxi service costs 85 cents per mile, average trip distance increases by 20 to 29 percent at 25% and 35% values of travel time, but declines somewhat (4%) at 50% value of travel time. At 35% value of travel time, average trip distance increases by 20% and 35% when per mile costs are 75 and 85 cents, respectively, but declines (3%) when per mile costs are one dollar. This study shows that at the right per mile cost an automated vehicle fleet may not increase VMT and congestion.

Martinez and Christ (2015) use a SA route choice model with a rule-based mode choice model (using proximity and trip length) to simulate an automated taxi and shared taxi fleets with and without transit. The models use population attributes and travel demand data from a local travel survey and travel times are based on hourly updated link speeds from a roadway network. In general, high market penetration (100% versus 50%) of shared automated taxis (versus automated taxi) with transit (versus no transit) produces greater replacement rates of automated taxis to private cars and decreases the growth in VMT and parked vehicles. However, all scenarios see increases in VMT (from a low of 6% to a high of 88%) and reductions in parked vehicles (6% to 104%) due to empty vehicle travel and the elimination of bus routes. The vehicle fleet replacement rate varies from a low of 1 to 10 in the 100% shared taxi with transit scenario to a high of 1.1 to one in the 50% taxi without transit.



Table 2. Summary of Short to Long Run Scenario Modeling Studies

| Author | Location | Method | Travel Effects | Time Period | AV | Scenario Parameters | Fleet (% baseline) | Relocation VMT | Mode Choice | Total VMT | Travel Time | Land Use/Parking |
|-----------------------|------------------------------|--|--|----------------|------------------|--|-----------------------|-------------------|---------------------------------------|--------------------|--|--|
| Thakur et al. 2016 | Melbourne , Australia | Travel & land use model calibrated to regional forecasts | Home location, destination, mode & SA route choice | Weekday | 100% Personal | 50% VOT | - | - | +3 PP Car; - 3 PP Transit | +30% | +24% Avg. VTT | Suburb pop.: +2% outer; -1% middle; -4% inner |
| Childress et al. | Seattle, WA (US) | MPO regional | Destination, mode & SA | Weekday | 100% Personal | +30% road capacity | | | 0 PP | +3.6% | -17.6 Avg. Delay | |
| 2014 | | activity- based travel model | route choice | | | +30% road capacity; 65% high income VOT +30% road capacity; 65% VOT; -50% parking cost | <u>-</u> | - | -1 PP Car +1 PP Car; -2 PP Walk | +5% | -14.3 Avg. Delay +17.3 Avg. Delay | & VMT increase |
| Gucwa 2014 | San Francisco, CA (US) | MPO regional activity- based travel model | Destination, mode & SA route choice | Weekday | 100% Personal | +100% road capacity | - | - | - | +2% +7.9% | - | - |
| Auld et al. 2017 | Ann Arbor, MI (US) | Activity & agent-based | Trip, destination, mode & DTA | Weekday | 100% Personal | +12% to +77% road capacity | | | | +0.4% to +2% | -1.8% to - 4.5% Avg. VTT | |
| | | travel model (POLARIS) | route choice | | 20% Personal | 25% to 75% VOT | | | | +1.3% to +5% | +1.8% to +7.1% Avg. VTT | |
| | | with data from MPO (survey & | | | 75% Personal | 25% to 75% VOT | | | | +5.7% to +18.6% | +8% to +30% Avg. VTT | |
| | | network) | | | 20% Personal | 25% to 75% VOT; +3% road capacity | - | - | - | +1.6% to +5.3% | +1.6% to +7.1% Avg. VTT | - |
| | | | | | 75% Personal | 25% to 75% VOT; +12% road capacity | | | | +4.3% to +12.7% | +3.2% to +15.9% Avg. VTT | |
| | | | | | 100% Personal | 25% to 75% VOT; +77% road capacity; AV Int. | | | | +10% to +28.2% | +4.5% to +30.1% Avg. VTT | |



| Author | Location | Method | Travel Effects | Time Period | AV | Scenario Parameters | Fleet (% baseline) | Relocation VMT | Mode Choice | Total VMT | Travel Time | Land Use/Parking |
|------------------------------|-------------------------------------|--|---|----------------|-----------------------------|--|-----------------------|-------------------|---|------------------------|---|------------------------------|
| Levin & Boyles 2015 | Downtown Austin, TX (US) | Modified 4 Step Model & MPO travel data | route choice (parking & repositionin g) | Peak Period | 100% Personal | | - | 83% | -63% transit trips; +274.5 vehicle trips | - | -9% Avg. Link Speed (weighted by length) | Increased parking disutility |
| Azevedo et al. 2016 | CBD Singapore | Activity & agent travel model (SimMobilit y) with travel survey, network & taxi data | Trip, destination, time of day, mode & DTA route choice | - | Shared Taxi | No private vehicles; areas only accessed by transit; service cost 40% current taxi | 40% | - | +3% PP transit; +29% PP shared taxi; +1% PP taxi; +1% PP walk | - | - | - |
| de Alameidia | Small city Delft, | Agent- based | Mode & DTA route choice | Weekday | 100% Personal | Free home parking & 2 free peripheral lots | | 11.5% | +3.4 PP car | +17.3% | +20.0% VHD | -7.0% VPT |
| Correia & van Arem | | model with travel | with parking and vehicle | | | Paid parking everywhere (same price) | | 87.4% | -26.2 PP car | +325.6% | +228.9% VHD | -8.7% VPT |
| 2016 | Holland) | survey data, | repositionin g | | | Free parking everywhere | | 10.8% | +30.6 PP car | +20.9% | +49.3% VHD | +15.8% VPT |
| | | networks; mode | | | | 2 free peripheral parking lots | | 64.8% | -20.3 PP car | +142.6% | +824.1% VHD | -23.5% VPT |
| | | choice coefficients | | | | 1 free peripheral parking lots | - | 53.2% | +16.1 PP car | +119.1% | +699.2% VHD | +18.8% VPT |
| | | & | | | | 50% VOT | | 10.3% | +6.2 PP car | +49.4% | 0% VHD | +8.2% VPT |
| | | generalized cost | | | | 50% VOT & 2 free peripheral parking lots | | 62.8% | -9.7 PP car | +190.3% | +276.1% VHD | -19.4% VPT |
| | | functions from Arentz and Molin, 2013 | | | | 50% VOT & no free parking except 1 lot | | 50.4% | +10.6 PP car | +165.7% | +796.7% VHD | +24.8 VPT |
| Chen & Kockelma n 2016 | Hypothetic al mid- sized city | Agent- based (MATSim); | Mode & DTA route choice with vehicle | Weekday | Electric Taxi compete | Electric Taxi: 25% VOT & \$0.85/mile | - | 7.2% | - | +29% Avg. TD mi. | - | - |



| Author | Location | Method | Travel Effects | Time | AV | Scenario Parameters | Fleet (% | Relocation | Mode | Total | Travel | Land |
|----------|--------------|--------------------|---------------------------|---------|----------------|--|-----------|------------|--------|----------------|--------|-------------|
| | | | | Period | | | baseline) | VMT | Choice | VMT | Time | Use/Parking |
| | like Austin, | MPO trip | repositionin | | s with | Electric Taxi: 35% VOT & \$0.85/mile | | 7.7% | | +20% | | |
| | TX (US) | generation | g | | other | | | | | Avg. TD | | |
| | | rates; 2009 | | | modes | | | | | mi. | | |
| | | NHTS trip | | | | Electric Taxi: 50% VOT & \$0.85/mile | | 9.1% | | -4% Avg. | | |
| | | distance; fixed | | | | 51 | | | | TD mi. | | |
| | | vehicle | | | | Electric Taxi: 35% VOT & \$0.75/mile | | 6.8% | | +35% | | |
| | | speeds | | | | | | | | Avg. TD mi. | | |
| | | эрссиз | | | | Electric Taxi: 35% VOT & \$1.00/mile | | 9.4% | | -3% Avg. | | |
| | | | | | | Liectric Taxi. 33% VOT & \$1.00/IIIIle | | 3.470 | | TD mi. | | |
| Martinez | Lisbon, | Model with | SA route | Weekday | 100% | No Transit | 12.8% | | | +21.6% | | 7.2% BPV |
| & Christ | Portugal | population | choice & | | Shared | Transit | 10.4% | | | +5.5% | | |
| 2015 | | & travel | rule based | | Taxi | | | | | | | 5.6% BPV |
| | | demand | mode choice | | 100% | No Transit | 22.8% | | | +88.2% | | 16% BPV |
| | | from travel survey | (proximity & trip length) | | Taxi | Transit | 16.8% | | | +43.2% | | 10.7% BPV |
| | | data; travel | | | 50% | No Transit | 102.4% | | | +58.9% | | 99.4% BPV |
| | | times | | | Shared | Transit | 78.2% | _ | _ | +7.6% | _ | |
| | | based on | | | Taxi + | | | | | | | |
| | | hourly | | | 50% private | | | | | | | |
| | | updated | | | car | | | | | | | 75.8% BPV |
| | | link | | | | No Transit | 107% | | | +89.5% | | |
| | | occupancy | | | + 50% | | | | | | | 103.8% BPV |
| | | | | | Private | Transit | 82% | | | +49.7 | | |
| | | | | | Car | | | | | | | 78.8% BPV |

AV=automated vehicles; VMT=vehicle miles traveled; SA=static assignment; DTA=dynamic traffic assignment; VOT=value of in vehicle travel time; PP=percentage point; Avg. VTT=average vehicle travel time; NHTS=National Household Travel Survey; VHD=vehicle hours of delay; VPT=total vehicle parking time; BPV=% share baseline parked vehicles



Extrapolation Studies

Two studies take an extrapolation approach to representing the effect of automated vehicles. These studies use existing case studies and analysis of new data to quantify the magnitude of change by specific effect. The advantage of this type of analysis is that more effects can often be incorporated into the analysis; however, the disadvantage is that effects are fixed and countervailing and compounding effects of scenario effects are difficult to represent. See Table 3.

Brown et al. (2004) use a modified Kaya Identity, where use intensity is VMT/vehicle, energy intensity is Energy/VMT, and fuel intensity is Liquids/Energy, and quantify the following potential effects of automated vehicles: platooning, efficient driving, efficient routing, travel by underserved populations, faster travel, induced travel, lighter vehicles, reduced parking search time, more carpooling and electrification. They create three scenarios, one of which includes all the potential effects that would tend to increase fuel use, another which includes all the potential effects that would tend to decrease fuel use, and finally, one that includes all effects. The results show increases in VMT that range from 74% to 90% and a 16% reduction in VMT. Vehicle fuel demand increases by 173% in the scenario that includes all potential fuel increasing factors, but it decreases by 91% to 95% in the other two scenarios.

Wadud et al. (2016) use the ASIF framework, which is equal to activity level multiplied by mode share multiplied by energy intensity multiplied by fuel carbon content, to estimate the effect of scenarios in which the effects of changes in congestion, eco-driving, platooning, highway speeds, performance, crash avoidance, right-sizing vehicles, feature content, generalized cost (reduced value of time and induced travel), new users, new mobility models, and fuel mix are represented. Their analysis represents modest to aggressive implementation of automated vehicles, in which VMT increases from 15% to 75% and energy demand is reduced by 70% or increases by 120%.



Table 3. Summary of Extrapolation Scenario Modeling Studies

| Author(s) | Location | Method | Travel and Energy Effects | Time Period | AV | Level | Scenario Parameters | Total VMT | Energy Demand |
|----------------------|----------|--|--|---|----------------------------------|-------|--|-----------|---------------------------------|
| Wadud et al. 2016 | US | Energy decomposition framework (ASIF=Activity Level x Mode Share x Energy Intensity x Fuel Carbon Content) including factors | Congestion, eco-driving, platooning, highway speeds, performance, crash avoidance, right-sizing vehicles, feature content, | Annual | 100% Personal | 3 | -25% platooning, -4% congestion, -20% eco-driving, -23% performance, -5% crash avoidance, +56% generalized cost & +7% new user groups | ~ +70%* | ~ -70% |
| | | that may changes travel and energy demand with AVs; magnitude of change by | generalized cost (reduced VOT and induced travel), new users, new mobility | and induced travel), users, new mobility | 98% Personal; 2% Carsharing | 2 | -14% platooning, -5% eco-driving, +9% generalized cost & +2% car- sharing | ~ +15%* | ~ -10% |
| | | factor extrapolated from literature or new analysis of existing data | models & fuel mix | | 80% Personal; 20% Car-sharing | 4 | -25% platooning, -4% congestion, -20% eco-driving, -23% performance, -5% crash avoidance, -45% eco-driving; +20% highway speeds, +10% increased features; +89% generalized cost, +11% new user groups & -20% carsharing | ~ +75%* | ~ -50% |
| | | | | | 100% Personal | 4 | +20% highway speeds, +10% features, +49% generalized cost; +11 new user groups | ~ +75%* | ~ +120% |
| Brown et al. 2014 | US | Modified Kaya Identity (where use intensity is VMT/vehicle, energy intensity is Energy/VMT & fuel intensity is Liquids/Energy) including factors that may changes travel and energy demand with AVs; magnitude of change by factor extrapolated from literature or new analysis of existing data | Platooning, efficient driving, efficient routing, travel by underserved populations, faster travel, induced travel, lighter vehicles, reduced parking search time, more carpooling and electrification | Annual | 100% Personal | 4 | All identified potential fuel use increases: +40% travel by underserved populations, +30% faster travel & +50% induced travel | 90% | +173% vehicle fuel demand |
| | | | | | 88% Personal; 12% Carpool | 4 | All identified potential fuel use decreases: -10% platooning, -45% efficient driving, -5% efficient routing, -50% lighter vehicles, -4% parking search travel, -12% carpooling & -75% electrification | -16% | -95% vehicle fuel demand |
| | | | | | 88% Personal; 12% Carpool | 4 | All effects | 74% | -91% vehicle fuel demand |

AV=automated vehicles; VMT=vehicle miles traveled; VOT=Value of Time



Conclusion

Research on automated vehicles is extremely important because they may significantly disrupt our transportation system with potentially profound effects, both positive and negative, on our society and our environment. However, this research is very hard to do because fully automated vehicles have yet to travel on our roads. As a result, automated vehicle research is largely conducted by extrapolating effects from current observed behavior and drawing on theory and models. Both the magnitude of the mechanism of change and secondary effects are often uncertain.

Moreover, the potential for improved safety in automated vehicles drive the mechanisms by which VMT, energy, and GHG emissions may change. We really don't know whether automated vehicles will achieve the level of safety that will allow for completely driverless cars, very short headways, smaller vehicles, lower fuel use, and/or reduce insurance cost. We don't know whether automated vehicle fleets will be harmonized to reduce energy and GHG emissions.

Given these caveats, we summarize findings from the existing literature on this subject and evidence quality.

- Road Capacity: Safety improvements from automated vehicles could significantly
 reduce headways on roadways and the results could be an almost doubling or tripling of
 capacity. These findings are based on a limited number of microsimulation studies that
 draw on traffic flow theory. Only one study uses field data. However, there is a relatively
 strong body of literature on the induced travel effects of roadway capacity on VMT. This
 literature suggests that the elasticity of VMT with respect to road capacity is 0.3 to 0.6
 (short run) and 0.6 to 1.0 (long run).
- **Time Costs**: The ability to engage in other activities while traveling in an automated vehicle may reduce the time burden of travel. Potential reductions in the value of travel time from automated vehicles are largely extrapolated from the results of stated preference surveys of car passengers and rail passengers, which may or may not be transferable to the experience automated vehicle passengers. The results of these studies vary widely, but 75% to 82% of current driver values of time may be reasonable. Studies also indicate that working may not be a common use of time for those traveling in automated vehicles.
- Monetary Costs: Safety improvements in automated vehicles may lower vehicle insurance costs. Reductions in fuel costs could be enabled from lighter vehicles, lower time costs of refueling electric vehicles, and harmonization of vehicle flows. Avoided labor cost could enable fleets of automated taxis and shared taxi with user costs lower than personal vehicles. The magnitude of cost reductions is largely speculative, and few peer reviewed studies evaluate these effects. Reduced monetary costs of vehicle travel would tend to increase VMT. The body of literature on the effect of gas prices, which is the largest component of variable cost for conventional vehicles, on VMT is relatively strong. Elasticity of VMT with respect to gas price is -0.03 to -0.10 (short run) and -0.13



- to -0.30 (long run). Only one study in New York City estimates the elasticity of taxi trips with respect to fares at -0.22, which may be applicable to automated taxi fleets.
- Mode Choice: Available research suggests that automated vehicles would reduce transit
 and non-motorized mode shares and increase car mode shares. The limited available
 research on this subject confirms expected direction change, but magnitude is highly
 uncertain due to study quality.
- Empty Vehicle Relocation Travel: Automated vehicles may travel while empty to pick up passengers and to avoid parking where it is scarce, or costs are high. The limited research on this topic shows that empty relocation travel is positively correlated with distance from the urban core, the price of parking, and per mile user costs, and is inversely correlated with ride-sharing and transit. Empty relocation travel may contribute significantly to VMT effects of automated vehicles; however, studies do not fully represent induced travel effects and thus may overestimate the relative importance of this effect. U.S. studies are simulated only in Austin (TX).
- **Parking**: There are very few studies that evaluate the effect of automated vehicles on parking. Three simulation studies (one in the U.S. and two in the E.U.) suggested that automated taxis may reduce parking demand by about 90%.
- New Travelers: Automated vehicles may allow many people to engage in car travel who cannot now drive a vehicle because of young-age and/or medical disabilities. Also, if shared automated taxis provide travel at a cost lower than current costs, then many lower income people who do not have access to a reliable car may also begin traveling more by car. Only a few studies evaluate the potential magnitude of this effect by extrapolating from 2009 NHTS Household Travel Survey data. Most studies estimate an increase in VMT on the order of 10% to 14%. However, the magnitude of effects is based largely on study assumptions.

In sum, this review suggests that personal automated vehicles and automated taxis are likely to significantly increase VMT and GHG and eliminating parking could exacerbate these increases. Electrifying the automated vehicle fleet could counter GHG growth, but will likely reduce vehicle operating costs and further increase VMT and congestion. Shared automated taxis could significantly reduce VMT and GHGs, but pricing polies are likely needed to get people to share. City center congestion could increase with significantly higher freeway capacity, which could result in urban flight and suburban sprawl in outlying areas that are relatively less congested. Policies to counter these trends could include (1) reinvesting in heavy rail transit to city centers with expanded first and last mile access in suburban areas by providing by automated vehicle shuttles and (2) cordon pricing around city centers to reduce congestion, make neighborhoods livable, and avoid sprawl.



References

Ambühl, Lukas, Francesco Ciari, and Monica Menendez. "What about space? A simulation based assess-ment of AVs impact on road space in urban areas." In 16th Swiss Transport Research Conference (STRC 2016), (Swiss Transport Research Conference (STRC)). 2016.

Auld, Joshua, Dominik Karbowskia, and Vadim Sokolova. "Assessing the regional energy impact of connected vehicle deployment." (2017).

Arentze, Theo A., and Eric JE Molin. "Travelers' preferences in multimodal networks: design and results of a comprehensive series of choice experiments." *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice* 58 (2013): 15-28.

Azevedo, Carlos Lima, Katarzyna Marczuk, Sebastián Raveau, Harold Soh, Muhammad Adnan, Kakali Basak, Harish Loganathan et al. "Microsimulation of demand and supply of autonomous mobility on demand." *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board* 2564 (2016): 21-30.

Bansal, Prateek, Kara M. Kockelman, and Amit Singh. "Assessing public opinions of and interest in new vehicle technologies: an Austin perspective." *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies* 67 (2016): 1-14.

Batley, R., Mackie, P., Bates, J., Fowkes, T., Hess, S., de Jong, G., Wardman, M., Fosgerau, M., 2010. Updating Appraisal Values for Travel Time Savings. Report to the Department for Transport, UK.

Bischoff, Joschka, and Michal Maciejewski. "Simulation of city-wide replacement of private cars with autonomous taxis in Berlin." *Procedia computer science* 83 (2016a): 237-244.

Bischoff, Joschka, and Michal Maciejewski. "Autonomous taxicabs in Berlin—a spatiotemporal analysis of service performance." *Transportation Research Procedia* 19 (2016b): 176-186.

Brown, Austin, Jeffrey Gonder, and Brittany Repac. "An analysis of possible energy impacts of automated vehicle." In *Road vehicle automation*, pp. 137-153. Springer International Publishing, 2014.

Burns, L. D., W. Jordan and B. Scarborough. Transforming personal mobility. 21 *Technical Report*, The Earth Institute, Columbia University, New York, 2013. 22

Chen, T. Donna, and Kara M. Kockelman. "Management of a Shared Autonomous Electric Vehicle Fleet: Implications of Pricing Schemes." *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board* 2572 (2016): 37-46.

Chen, T. Donna, Kara M. Kockelman, and Josiah P. Hanna. "Operations of a shared, autonomous, electric vehicle fleet: Implications of vehicle & charging infrastructure decisions." *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice* 94 (2016): 243-254.

Childress, Suzanne, Brice Nichols, Billy Charlton, and Stefan Coe. "Using an activity-based model to explore the potential impacts of automated vehicles." *Transportation Research Record:*Journal of the Transportation Research Board 2493 (2015): 99-106.



Circella, G., S. Handy, and M. Boarnet. "Impacts of Gas Price on Passenger Vehicle Use and Greenhouse Gas Emissions. 30 September 2014." (2014).

Cyganski, Rita, Eva Fraedrich, and Barbara Lenz. "Travel-time valuation for automated driving: A use-case-driven study." In *Proceedings of the 94th Annual Meeting of the TRB*. 2015.

de Almeida Correia, Gonçalo Homem, and Bart van Arem. "Solving the User Optimum Privately Owned Automated Vehicles Assignment Problem (UO-POAVAP): A model to explore the impacts of self-driving vehicles on urban mobility." *Transportation Research Part B:*Methodological 87 (2016): 64-88.

Englund, Cristofer, Lei Chen, and Alexey Voronov. "Cooperative speed harmonization for efficient road utilization." In *Communication Technologies for Vehicles (Nets4Cars-Fall), 2014 7th International Workshop on*, pp. 19-23. IEEE, 2014.

Fagnant, Daniel J., and Kara M. Kockelman. "The travel and environmental implications of shared autonomous vehicles, using agent-based model scenarios." *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies* 40 (2014): 1-13.

Fagnant, Daniel J., Kara M. Kockelman, and Prateek Bansal. "Operations of shared autonomous vehicle fleet for austin, texas, market." *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board* 2536 (2015): 98-106.

Fagnant, Daniel J., and Kara M. Kockelman. "Dynamic ride-sharing and fleet sizing for a system of shared autonomous vehicles in Austin, Texas." *Transportation* (2016): 1-16.

Fosgerau, M, K Hjorth and SV Lyk-Jensen (2007) The Danish value of time study – final report. Danish Transport Research Institute report 5. 48pp.

Goodwin, Phil B. "Empirical evidence on induced traffic." *Transportation* 23, no. 1 (1996): 35-54.

Gucwa, Michael. "Mobility and energy impacts of automated cars." In *Proceedings of the Automated Vehicles Symposium, San Francisco*. 2014.

Hague Consulting Group (HCG) with Accent Marketing and Research (1999) *The value of travel time on UK roads* – 1994. Report for Department of Transport Environment and the Regions. 377pp.

Handy, Susan, and Marlon G. Boarnet. "Impact of Highway Capacity and Induced Travel on Passenger Vehicle Use and Greenhouse Gas Emissions." *California Environmental Protection Agency, Air Resources Board, Retrieved August* 28 (2014): 2015.

Harper, Corey D., Chris T. Hendrickson, Sonia Mangones, and Constantine Samaras. "Estimating potential increases in travel with autonomous vehicles for the non-driving, elderly and people with travel-restrictive medical conditions." *Transportation research part C: emerging technologies* 72 (2016): 1-9.

Hensher, DA (1984) Full information maximum likelihood estimation of a nested logit mode choice model. *Working paper no. 13.* Macquarie University, Transport Research Centre, School of Economic and Financial Studies. 32pp.



Horni, Andreas, Kai Nagel, and Kay W. Axhausen, eds. *The multi-agent transport simulation MATSim*. London: Ubiquity Press, 2016.

Ian Wallis Associates Ltd. "Car passenger valuations of quantity and quality of time savings." NZ Transport Agency research report 551. Wellington, New Zealand (2014).

Le Vine, Scott, Alireza Zolfaghari, and John Polak. "The tension between autonomous cars' impacts on intersection level-of-service and their occupants' use of travel time for leisurely or economically-productive activities." In *Proceedings of the 94th Annual Meeting of the Transportation Research Board, January 2015.* 2015.

Lioris, Jennie, Ramtin Pedarsani, Fatma Yildiz Tascikaraoglu, and Pravin Varaiya. "Platoons of connected vehicles can double throughput in urban roads." *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies* 77 (2017): 292-305.

Lyons, G., Jan, J., Holley, D., 2007. The use of travel time by rail passengers in Great Britain. Transp. Res. Part A 41 (1), 107–120.

Maciejewski, Michal, and Joschka Bischoff. "Congestion effects of autonomous taxi fleets." *Transport* (2017): 1-10.

Maciejewski, Michal, Joschka Bischoff, Sebastian Hörl, and Kai Nagel. "Towards a testbed for dynamic vehicle routing algorithms." In International Conference on Practical Applications of Agents and Multi-Agent Systems, pp. 69-79. Springer, Cham, 2017.

MacKenzie, Donald, Stephen Zoepf, and John Heywood. "Determinants of US passenger car weight." *International Journal of Vehicle Design* 65, no. 1 (2014): 73-93.

Malokin, Aliaksandr, Giovanni Circella, and Patricia L. Mokhtarian. "How do activities conducted while commuting influence mode choice? Testing public transportation advantage and autonomous vehicle scenarios." In *Transportation Research Board 94th Annual Meeting*, no. 15-1179. 2015.

Martinez, Luis, and P. Crist. "Urban Mobility System Upgrade—How shared self-driving cars could change city traffic." In *International Transport Forum, Paris*. 2015.

Menon, Nikhil, Abdul R. Pinjari, Yu Zhang, and Linghong Zou. "Consumer Perception and Intended Adoption of Autonomous-Vehicle Technology: Findings from a University Population Survey." In *Transportation Research Board 95th Annual Meeting*, no. 16-5998. 2016.

Preston, John, and Oxford Univ. (United Kingdom). Transport Studies Unit;. *Transport Investment, Transport Intensity and Economic Growth*. University of Oxford, Transport Studies Unit, 1997.

Roman, C, R Espino and JC Martin (2007) Competition of high-speed train with air transport: the case of Madrid–Barcelona. *Journal of Air Transport Management 13*, no.5: 277–284.

Schoettle, B. and Sivak, M. (2014a) A survey of public opinion about autonomous and self-driving vehicles in the US, the UK and Australia. Michigan: University of Michigan.



Schoettle, B. and Sivak, M. (2014b). The reasons for the recent decline in young driver licensing in the United States. Traffic Injury Prevention, 15, 6-9.

Schaller, Bruce. "Elasticities for taxicab fares and service availability." *Transportation* 26, no. 3 (1999): 283-297.

Shladover, Steven, Dongyan Su, and Xiao-Yun Lu. "Impacts of cooperative adaptive cruise control on freeway traffic flow." *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board* 2324 (2012): 63-70.

Thakur, Praveen, Robert Kinghorn, and Renan Grace. "Urban form and function in the autonomous era." In *Australasian Transport Research Forum (ATRF), 38th, 2016, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia*. 2016.

Underwood, Steven E. "Disruptive innovation on the path to sustainable mobility: creating a roadmap for road transportation in the United States." In *Road Vehicle Automation*, pp. 157-168. Springer International Publishing, 2014.

Wadud, Zia, Don MacKenzie, and Paul Leiby. "Help or hindrance? The travel, energy and carbon impacts of highly automated vehicles." *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice* 86 (2016): 1-18.

Zhang, Wenwen, Subhrajit Guhathakurta, Jinqi Fang, and Ge Zhang. "The Performance and Benefits of a Shared Autonomous Vehicles Based Dynamic Ridesharing System: An Agent-Based Simulation Approach." In *Transportation Research Board 94th Annual Meeting. Available at:* htp://trid. trb. org/view. aspx. 2015.

Zhang, Wenwen, and Subhrajit Guhathakurta. "Parking spaces in the age of shared autonomous vehicles: How much parking will we need and where." In *Transportation Research Board 96th Annual Meeting*. 2017.

